The Freemen of the City of Leicester

The Roman name for Leicester was Ratae Coritanorum, and at the time of the occupation around 47 A.D. the town was the capital of the Coritani Iron Age tribe.  During the first few years of Roman occupation a military fort was established but by the end of the Flavian period the garrison had been replaced by a civil administration and Leicester became a Civitas capital.  Leicester remained under Roman occupation until the 5th century.  

The second half of the first millennium really was the dark ages in Leicester, so dark in fact, evidence of early Anglo-Saxon occupation has remained largely elusive.  Christianity arrived in Leicester in 653 A.D. with the marriage of Peada (a heathen prince from the Midlands) to a Christian princess from Northumberland.  Two hundred years later the Danes arrived.

By the time the Normans occupied Leicester in 1068 the population of around 1500 to 2000 was a magical blend of Coritani, Angles, Saxon, Dane, and whatever nationality were the occupying Roman soldiers.  The Domesday Book recorded that in 1086 there were 322 houses within the walls of Leicester of which three were empty, and that there were 65 burgesses.  Leicester’s town walls very closely followed the extent of the Roman urban area.

In 1107 Robert of Meulen granted a charter to the merchants of Leicester allowing them to reform their Gild and to enjoy the customs and rights that they enjoyed at the time of William of Normandy.  Membership of the Gild was a requirement for trading or carrying out business in Leicester.   Robert’s son, Robert le Bossu, granted a charter on his succession to the Earldom of Leicester in 1120 permitting the reforming of the portmanmoot (the town council) and allowing the functions of that body to continue (within certain limits).  The two bodies, the Gild of Merchants and the Portmanmoot, possibly consisted of the same personnel and over the years their functions, managing the trade and commerce and the civil administration of Leicester, became as one.

The first recorded ceremony of swearing in of new members to the Gild took place in 1196 when 60 gildsmen took their Oath of Allegiance and it is interesting to note that a good proportion of those in the ceremony did not originate from Leicester.  From that date to the present day there is almost an unbroken record of the names of new members swearing their allegiance to the Gild of Merchants or Freemen of Leicester.  

In the 12th and 13th century there were three means of entry into the Gild.

1. Membership could be inherited by the youngest son, an Anglo Saxon custom later changed to primogeniture at the end of the 13th century.

2. Natives of Leicester could purchase their membership for a fee of three shillings along with an entrance fee known as a ‘Bull Payment’ of between 6/8 and 13/4.

3. Foreigners could purchase membership for 20 shillings plus the Bull Payment. 

By 1400 entering the Merchant Gild was frequently referred to as entering the Freedom of Leicester.

During the reign of Queen Elizabeth entrance to the freedom of the borough could be gained by one of the following ways:

1. Freedom was admissible to all sons of freemen providing that the father had taken his own freedom before the son was born and that residence was within the town boundary.  

2. Freedom could also be obtained through a seven year apprenticeship to a freeman again dependant on residency within the borough. 

3. Honorary freedom was also granted in cases were the beneficiary could offer political or trade advantages to the town.

4. Purchase of freedom was also available to both locals and foreigners for the purpose of carrying out business in Leicester. 

These criteria remained until the passing of the Municipal Corporations Act in 1835 after which the latter two became illegal.

In 1804 an Act of Parliament was passed inclosing land upwards of 600 acres known as the South Fields and the Burgesses’ Meadows for the common use of the Freemen of Leicester and their widows.  The act also included for the appointment of a Board of Deputies selected from and elected by the freemen for the administration and management of the estate.  Over the intervening period all of the land has been disposed of, the last tranch being the Freemen’s Common now occupied by a commercial development.    

From the sale of the Freemen’s Common land was purchased in 1966 in Aylestone, a suburb of Leicester, and a small estate of bungalows built for the occupation by aged and needy freemen or their widows known as the Freemen’s Holt.  The Holt and the investments financing the Freemen’s Charity are still administered by the Board of Deputies.

Administration of the Charity had been regulated by the Leicester Freemen’s Acts from 1845 to 1922 and a scheme of the Charity Commissioners dated 29th May 1923.  Application was made to Parliament by way of a draft scheme to rationalise the previous acts and to update the criteria for benefit to be compatible with modern needs and in 1977 the Charities (Leicester Freemen’s Estate) Order was passed and came into effect on the 29th December 1977.  The main effects of the order was to rationalise the previous acts and to amend qualification for both receiving benefit from the Charity and for standing as a Deputy to include residency of the county as opposed to the residency within the city boundary.  Aged and needy freemen and freemen’s widows can apply for a charitable payment made monthly, or apply for residency in one of the bungalows at Freemen’s Holt. 

The activities of the Board of Deputies have always been restricted to the interests of the Charity only, with no social function.  In 1975, to overcome this restriction, the Gild of Freemen of the City of Leicester was revived to offer all Freemen of Leicester, regardless of their residency, an opportunity to take advantage of their common interest and to meet each other.  Since that time the Gild has flourished and membership of the Gild has stood at around the 150 mark for many years.  Not all freemen take up membership of the Gild and in all there are over 500 Leicester Freemen around the world.  

Apart from allowing freemen to become acquainted with each other through the many social functions organised by the Gild Court, the Gild has also established a very good relationship with the City Council and robed freemen frequently attend civic functions giving support to the Lord Mayor.  Not only has the Gild given the opportunity for Leicester Freemen to meet each other but also has provided a strong bond with freemen from other parts of the country through regular visit to and from other towns and cities.   

